Postoperative Analgesia and Sedation in the Adult Intensive Care Unit

A Guide to Drug Selection

Linda L. Liu and Michael A. Gropper

Department of Anesthesia and Perioperative Care, University of California, San Francisco, California, USA

Contents

Abstract
1. Complications from Pain and Anxiety
2. Assessment of Pain and Anxiety
3. Analgesics
3.1 Morphine
3.2 Fentanyl
3.3 Hydromorphone
3.4 Methadone
3.5 Ketamine
4. Sedatives
4.1 Lorazepam
4.2 Midazolam
4.3 Diazepam
4.4 Propofol
4.5 Haloperidol
4.6 Dexmedetomidine
5. Global Practices
6. Practice Guidelines
7. Sedation Protocols
8. Conclusion

Abstract

An essential goal of all critical care physicians should be to maintain an optimal level of pain control and sedation for their patients. This has become increasingly important because of evidence showing that the combined use of sedatives and analgesics may ameliorate the detrimental stress response in critically ill patients. Unfortunately, both pain and anxiety are subjective and difficult to measure, thereby limiting our ability to analyse these states and making management more challenging.

Although there is still a lack of high quality, randomised, prospective, controlled trials comparing agents, monitoring techniques and scoring scales, several societies have come together to publish some clinical practice guidelines for sedation and analgesia. Recommended opioids are fentanyl or hydromorphone for short-term use, and morphine or hydromorphone for longer-term therapy.

Midazolam or diazepam are recommended for sedation of the acutely agitated patient, while lorazepam is recommended for longer infusions. Propofol is preferred when rapid awakening is desired.

The challenge for critical care physicians is to use these medications to provide comfort and safety without increasing morbidity or mortality. Most studies support the use of protocols in order to help achieve these goals. The bottom line is that most protocols end up stressing some common issues. These include daily cessation of drugs to evaluate the patient and frequent reassessment of the level of sedation required by each specific patient.

Much is still unknown about the long-term effects of sedative and analgesic drugs used as infusions that may last from days to weeks to months. Hopefully, as more studies are performed, we will have more defined clinical end-points, newer drugs with rapid onset and offset and no active metabolites, and decreased morbidity and mortality for our patients.

As intensive care therapies have evolved, a greater understanding of the importance of properly treating pain and anxiety has developed. Failure to achieve these endpoints may have deleterious effects. Fortunately, as a result of the development of better analgesics and sedatives and better methods of drug delivery, significant advances have been made in our ability to address these issues.

Consensus recommendations to guide analgesic and sedative therapy in the intensive care unit (ICU) were published in 1995 and then revised in 2002; however, substantial variability in practice still exists. The reasons for this disparity are multi-fold, but the most important reasons are that: (i) no single depth of sedation or single sedative agent is appropriate for every patient and every situation encountered in the ICU; and (ii) we still lack reliable methods for measuring pain and anxiety.

Theoretically, the choice of the ideal drug should be based on pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties, cost of therapy (including the drug and the required delivery apparatus) and the cost of treating adverse effects; however, the critically ill often have systemic illnesses, multiple organ failure and haemodynamic instability, which limit drug choices. This article discusses complications from inadequate pain and sedation therapy, the assessment of pain and sedation, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of analgesics and sedatives used in today's critical care practice, and

some recent practice guidelines on the use of analgesics and anxiolytics in the ICU.

1. Complications from Pain and Anxiety

Under treated pain results in many physiological responses that are associated with poor outcomes.[1] Stimulation of the autonomic nervous system and release of humoral factors such as catecholamines, cortisol, glucagon, leukotrienes, prostaglandins, vasopressin and β-endorphins following injury, sepsis or surgery are known as the 'stress response'. This activation of the sympathetic nervous system increases heart rate, blood pressure and myocardial oxygen consumption, which can lead to myocardial ischaemia or infarction.^[2] The altered hormonal mille can lead to hypercoagulability as a result of increased levels of factor VIII and fibrinogen-platelet activity and inhibition of fibrinolysis.[3] The stress hormones also produce insulin resistance, increased metabolic rate and protein catabolism. Immunosuppression is common because of the reduction in number and function of lymphocytes and granulocytosis. [4] Previously, the stress response was considered a homeostatic mechanism that was beneficial but more recent data have shown that this response may be detrimental in part. Many studies have shown that the adequate treatment of pain can decrease the magnitude of these changes that occur

following surgery and thereby decrease some postoperative complications.^[5-8]

The ICU environment can lead to psychological difficulties as well. Memories of vivid nightmares, hallucinations and paranoid delusions were prominent in studies of ICU patients after discharge.^[9] Patients who have been ventilated, sedated and paralysed have reported experiencing hallucinations, delusions and altered sense of reality.[10] Although some procedures can be explained to the patient in order to relieve some anxiety, unfortunately not all patients who require procedures during the acute stage of illness are in a state receptive to reasoning. These experiences lead some patients to develop post-traumatic stress syndromes after their stay in the ICU.[11] For these patients, effective therapy for anxiety and pain can reduce some of the emotional adverse experiences and decrease the incidence of postoperative neurosis.[12]

2. Assessment of Pain and Anxiety

Pain and anxiety are subject to interpretation. They are difficult to objectify and monitor from one care provider to another unless a standard is developed for assessing and monitoring these states. This is what makes management of sedation in critically ill patients one of the more challenging areas of ICU care.

For pain, the most widely used scale is the visual analogue scale (VAS), where patients point to a point on a horizontal line that is a representation of the spectrum of pain from 'no pain' to 'the worst pain I've ever had'. The scale is simplistic and has a high degree of reliability and validity, [13] but ignores other dimensions such as the qualitative aspects of pain. Not all critically ill patients can use this scale because of the severity of their illnesses. Sometimes, bedside nurses have to use behavioural signs such as facial expressions, movement or posturing, or physiological signs such as tachycardia, hypertension or tachypnea. Unfortunately, none of these methods are exact. They depend on cultural interpretation of pain, and often the type of illness and use of other drugs can alter the haemodynamic parameters.

Monitoring sedation is also inexact and a true gold standard has not been established. The Glasgow Coma Scale is widely used for the assessment of level of consciousness but validity is established only in patients with neurological deficits. A scale that may be more applicable to the medical-surgical ICU is the 6-point Ramsay Scale.[14] The Ramsay Scale is a numerical scale of motor responsiveness based on increasing depth of sedation (table I). Most comparative studies have used the Ramsay Scale but it also has drawbacks. Because it is based on motor response, the scale has to be modified for patients receiving muscle relaxants, and like the assessment of pain; there is no consensus as to what represents an adequate level of sedation in an individual patient. Other scales include the Sedation-Agitation Scale (SAS) and the Motor Activity Assessment Scale (MAAS), but all have similar drawbacks.

On the horizon, the bispectral index (BIS) of the electroencephalogram is known to provide information about the interaction between cortical and subcortical regions.^[15,16] BIS, which is based on a score between 0 and 100, is an index of the level of consciousness.[17] It is more often used in the operating room as an index of the degree of sedation during anaesthesia. Recently, attempts have been made to extend the use of BIS into the ICU, but preliminary reports have been conflicting because of muscle-based electrical activity or metabolic or structural abnormalities of the brain in ICU patients.[18,19] More work is required to validate this technique in ICU patients, but the theoretical benefits of a non-invasive monitor of cerebral function are plausible. However, to date no data have been able to show that BIS monitoring when used to assess depth of sedation significantly alters patient outcomes in the ICU.[20] Because of the lack of evidence, routine use of this device was not recommended by the latest clinical practice guidelines.^[21]

3. Analgesics

Pain in the critically ill is best treated with a pure opioid agonist. The commonly available opiates all work at the μ -receptor, so the choice of which agent to use should be based on pharmacokinetic charac-

Table I. Scales used to monitor sedation in patients in the intensive care unit

Score	Response			
Ramsay s	edation scale			
1	Anxious or restless or both			
2	Co-operative, oriented and tranquil			
3	Responding to commands			
4	Brisk response to stimulus			
5	Sluggish response to stimulus			
6	No response to stimulus			
Motor acti	ivity assessment scale			
6	Dangerously agitated and uncooperative. No external stimulus is required to elicit movement, and patient is pulling at tubes or catheters or thrashing from side to side or striking at staff or trying to climb out of bed and does not calm down when asked			
5	Agitated. No external stimulus is required to elicit movement and attempting to sit up or moves limbs out of bed and does not consistently follow commands (e.g. will lie down when asked but soon reverts back to attempts to sit up and move limbs out of bed)			
4	Restless and co-operative. No external stimulus is required to elicit movement and patient is picking at sheets or tubes or uncovering self and follows commands			
3	Calm and co-operative. No external stimulus is required to elicit movement and patient is adjusting sheets or clothes purposefully and follows commands			
2	Responsive to touch or name. Opens eyes or raises eyebrows or turns head toward stimulus or moves limbs when touched or name is loudly spoken			
1	Responsive only to noxious stimuli. Opens eyes or raises eyebrows or turns head toward stimulus or moves limbs with noxious stimulus (suctioning or 5 seconds of vigourous orbital, sternal or nail bed pressure)			
0	Unresponsive. Does not move with noxious stimulus (suctioning or 5 seconds of vigourous orbital, sternal or nail bed pressure)			
Sedation-a	agitation scale			
7	Dangerous agitation. Pulling at endotracheal tube, thrashing, climbing over bed rails			
6	Very agitated. Does not calm, requires restraints, bites endotracheal tube			
5	Agitated. Attempts to sit up but calms to verbal instructions			
4	Calm and co-operative. Follows commands			
3	Sedated. Difficult to arouse, follows simple commands			
2	Very sedated. Arouses to stimuli but does not follow commands			
1	Unarousable. Minimal or no response to noxious stimuli			

teristics. In a recent clinical guideline, [21] the recommended choices have been narrowed to morphine, fentanyl and hydromorphone. Since the use of meperidine (pethidine), nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and mixed opioid agonist-antagonist agents are discouraged because of potential adverse effects, their use is not discussed here. However, drugs such as methadone, a long acting opioid that can be given parenterally or enterally, and ketamine, a sedative drug with analgesic qualities, are discussed at the end of this section because they do have specific advantages in the ICU patient and can be used for the difficult to sedate patient. Table II

lists some of the recommended drugs and their minimal suggested dosages for the treatment of pain.

3.1 Morphine

Recommended as the first-line opioid for use in the ICU, morphine, because of its water-solubility, has a delayed peak effect when compared with the more lipid soluble opioids such as fentanyl (30 minutes vs 4 minutes, respectively). Morphine administration leads to venodilation and decreases heart rate through sympatholysis and direct effects at the sinoatrial (SA) node.^[22] The primary adverse effect is its propensity to cause respiratory depression. Other adverse effects include sedation, nausea,

ileus and spasm of the sphincter of Oddi. The primary non-receptor based adverse effect from morphine is histamine release, causing hypotension, tachycardia and possibly bronchospasm in susceptible patients. Morphine has an elimination half-life of 2–4 hours. It does have an active metabolite, morphine-6-glucuronide, which may accumulate and cause excessive sedation in patients with renal failure.^[23]

3.2 Fentanyl

Fentanyl is the preferred analgesic agent for critically ill patients with haemodynamic instability or those with a morphine allergy. Fentanyl is a synthetic opioid that is 80–100-fold more potent than morphine. Fentanyl has similar opioid receptor based adverse effects as morphine but it does not release histamine. Fentanyl only causes minor haemodynamic changes and does not affect the inotropic state of the heart. Virtually all haemodynamic variables, including cardiac output and systemic and pulmonary vascular resistance, are unchanged after large doses of fentanyl. [24] Rapid administration of large doses may be associated with bradycardia and chest wall rigidity.

Because fentanyl is lipid-soluble, the duration of action with small doses is short as a result of redistribution from the brain to other tissues. Larger cumulative doses become dependent on elimination as opposed to redistribution. The duration of action lengthens and becomes similar to morphine since the elimination half-lives of the drugs are similar. The pharmacokinetics of fentanyl are not significantly altered in the presence of liver or kidney dysfunction.^[25] Fentanyl metabolites may accumu-

late, but they are largely inactive and nontoxic, and the terminal elimination half-life of fentanyl is based on release from tissue stores rather than hepatic elimination. Only with severe hepatic dysfunction and high-dose fentanyl will altered pharmacokinetics be observed.

3.3 Hydromorphone

Recommended as an acceptable alternative to morphine, hydromorphone is a semi-synthetic opioid that is 5–10-fold more potent than morphine. Time to onset and duration of action are similar to morphine. It has minimal haemodynamic effects and does not result in histamine release. Studies have also shown that pruritus, sedation, and nausea and vomiting may occur less with hydromorphone than morphine, [27] and so it can be a good alternative, especially in patients who are unable to tolerate morphine.

Like morphine, hydromorphone is metabolised by conjugation with glucuronide, but it also undergoes reduction via an NADPH (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate) reductase to two active metabolites. The metabolites have greater analgesic activity than the parent compound, but are in such small amounts that they are probably insignificant except in the presence of renal failure or large doses over a prolonged time, where their levels may accumulate to toxic amounts.^[28]

3.4 Methadone

Methadone is a synthetic opioid agent with morphine-like properties that can be given enterally and parenterally. It is much longer acting than morphine

Table II. Some of the analgesics recommended for patients in the intensive care unit

Drug	Elimination half-life	Peak effect (IV)	Minimal suggested dosage
Morphine	2-4h	30 min	1-4mg bolus
			1–10 mg/h infusion
Fentanyl	2–5h	4 min	25–100μg bolus
			25-200 μg/h infusion
Hydromorphone	2-4h	20 min	0.2-1mg bolus
			0.2-2 mg/h infusion
Ketamine	2-3h	30-60s	1–2 μg/kg/min infusion
IV = intravenous.			

and has a similar receptor-associated adverse effect profile, but it is less sedating. The oral bioavailability is 3-fold greater than the bioavailability of oral morphine. [29] Methadone has had a negative stigma given its association with drug abuse and opioid detoxification, and its long half-life makes titration very difficult in most ICU patients. While methadone is not the drug of choice for an acutely ill patient whose hospital course is rapidly changing, it is a good alternative for the patient who has a long recovery ahead and an anticipated prolonged ventilatory wean. Often once things are stable, transition from fentanyl or morphine infusions to methadone via the feeding tube can help simplify care regimens and decrease dependence on infusions.

Methadone, unlike morphine, lacks active metabolites.^[30] It is metabolised in the liver and a small portion of it is eliminated in the kidney. Sixty percent is eliminated by nonrenal routes, so it does not accumulate in patients with renal failure.^[29]

3.5 Ketamine

Ketamine, a phencyclidine compound, is an intravenous anaesthetic that has analgesic properties. It works via the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor as well as the μ -receptor. Traditionally, its primary use in the ICU has been during short procedures with intense pain, such as dressing changes and wound debridement in burn patients. An advantage of ketamine is that it causes minimal respiratory depression.

Ketamine increases blood pressure, heart rate and cardiac output by causing the release of catecholamines. Patients who have been critically ill for a prolonged period may have exhausted their catecholamine stores and may exhibit the myocardial depressant effects of ketamine. [33]

Subhypnotic doses of ketamine administered as infusions have been used for patients who are very difficult to sedate with narcotic and benzodiazepine infusions.^[34] These low-dose ketamine infusions (<5 µg/kg/min) do not seem to be associated with the usual adverse effects of ketamine such as hypertension, tachycardia, increased intracranial pressure, excessive secretions, and vivid dreams and halluci-

nations (termed emergence reactions). [34] Tolerance is known to develop with prolonged use of larger bolus doses, but has not been observed at lower dosages because of limited experience. Because of its potential adverse effects, ketamine is not recommended for routine sedation of the critically ill patient but it can be helpful for more difficult situations. Ketamine also has bronchodilatory effects, which could be beneficial during intubation of asthmatic patients. [35]

Ketamine is metabolised by the hepatic microsomal system to norketamine, which is about 20–30% as active as the parent compound. Pharmacokinetic data are sparse for the patient with liver or renal failure, so no dose adjustment recommendations are available. [36]

4. Sedatives

Anxiety in the critically ill is best treated with a benzodiazepine after adequate treatment of pain and correction of any reversible causes such as hypoxia, metabolic abnormalities, treatable neurological abnormalities, infections, renal or hepatic failure, or nonclinical seizure activity.[37] The commonly available benzodiazepines all work at the GABA receptor, so the choice of agent should be based on pharmacokinetic characteristics. In recent clinical guidelines, [21] the recommended choices have been narrowed to diazepam, lorazepam, midazolam and propofol. Other drugs included in this section are haloperidol, which is useful for delirium, and dexmedetomidine, a new α2-receptor agonist, which is being used for ICU sedation. Table III lists some of the common drugs and their minimal suggested dosages for the treatment of anxiety.

4.1 Lorazepam

Lorazepam, a benzodiazepine 5–10-fold more potent than diazepam, is the preferred agent for the prolonged treatment of anxiety in the critically ill adult. The effects of this agent are similar to those of diazepam, but unlike diazepam, pain on injection or phlebitis is not expected after lorazepam administration. Lorazepam has lower lipid solubility, which explains its longer time to peak effect.^[38] Compared

Drug	Elimination half-life	Peak effect	Minimal suggested dosage
Diazepam	20-40h	3–5 min	5–10mg bolus
			Infusion not recommended
Midazolam	3-5h	2-5 min	1–2mg bolus
			0.5-10 mg/h infusion
Lorazepam	10-20h	2-20 min	1–2mg bolus
			0.5-10 mg/h infusion
Propofol	20-30h	90s	Bolus dose not recommended
			25-100 μg/kg/min infusion
Haloperidol	10-24h	3–20 min	2-10mg bolus
			2-10 mg/h infusion
Dexmedetomidine	2h	1-2 min	Bolus dose not recommended
			0.2-1 ug/kg/h

Table III. Some of the sedatives recommended for patients in the intensive care unit

with midazolam, lorazepam is longer acting, causes less hypotension, mediates equally effective anterograde amnesia, is lower in cost and, with prolonged administration, produces more predictable awakening.^[39]

Because lorazepam is diluted in propylene glycol, it may be unstable in solution and can precipitate in intravenous catheters and tubing, necessitating a dedicated infusion line. Propylene glycol toxicity, such as acute tubular necrosis, lactic acidosis and hyperosmolar states, has occurred with large doses of lorazepam or prolonged infusions. ^[40] It has also been reported after only 3 days of use in a patient with renal failure. ^[41] Alternatively, lorazepam can be given enterally; however, the large doses of propylene glycol can lead to diarrhoea in some patients.

Lorazepam is glucuronidated in the liver to an inactive metabolite.^[42] Because this hepatic system is more resistant to the effects of cirrhosis and hepatic failure than the hepatic microsomal system, lorazepam is often the benzodiazepine of choice for patients with liver disease if a benzodiazepine must be used.^[43]

4.2 Midazolam

Midazolam is a short-acting, water-soluble benzodiazepine that is lipophilic at physiological pH and rapidly crosses the blood brain barrier. It has a much shorter duration of action than diazepam as a result of rapid redistribution and it is recommended along with propofol as the two agents which should be used for the short-term (<24 hours) treatment of anxiety in the critically ill adult.^[21] Midazolam is 2–3-fold more potent than diazepam. The spectrum of adverse effects includes respiratory depression and hypotension, particularly in the presence of hypovolaemia^[44] and in large doses. Prolonged infusions sometimes lead to much longer duration of action especially in the critically ill patient as a result of accumulation of the active metabolite.^[45] In some patients, the quick offset may lead to paradoxical agitation.^[46]

In patients with impaired hepatic clearance, the elimination half-life of midazolam may be prolonged from 2 hours to 4–12 hours. [47] Midazolam is metabolised to hydroxymidazolam, which has minimal activity [48] and is much shorter acting than the parent compound. [49] With long-term infusions, drug-drug interactions may become important. For instance, erythromycin, propofol and diltiazem all can result in unexpected sedation as a result of inhibition of the cytochrome P450 system and delayed midazolam metabolism. [50,51]

4.3 Diazepam

Diazepam has been used extensively in the critical care setting. With single doses, it can provide rapid onset and offset as a result of its lipid solubility and the effects of redistribution from the central compartment.^[52] It causes minimal depression of ventilation or circulation, although some critically

ill patients can be very sensitive to the respiratory depressive and hypotensive effects of diazepam. Long-term diazepam use can lead to prolonged sedation from active metabolites and so, like methadone, it has limitations for ICU sedation. Diazepam is useful in the patient who is facing a prolonged hospital course and a slow wean from mechanical ventilation, but who is otherwise stable from the standpoint of other organ function. It provides a useful transition from benzodiazepine infusions to an oral regimen that can be tapered slowly. Because diazepam is insoluble in water and must be dissolved in organic solvents, pain and phlebitis may occur with intravenous injection.

Diazepam metabolism is dependent on hepatic microsomal enzymes and it is metabolised to two active metabolites, N-desmethyldiazepam and oxazepam. In many patients, including the elderly and those with impaired hepatic or renal function, it may have a markedly prolonged elimination half-life and produce prolonged sedation, therefore, diazepam should be used very carefully in these patient groups.^[53]

4.4 Propofol

Propofol is an alkylphenol which is insoluble in aqueous solution and is formulated in a 1% emulsion of soybean oil, glycerol and egg phosphatide. It provides 1.1 kcal/ml from fat and should be counted as a caloric source. A 2% formulation of propofol is currently being evaluated by the US FDA. It has excellent sedative and hypnotic properties, but does not provide analgesia. GABA receptors within the central nervous system appear to be involved but the mechanism of action is not completely known. Rapid and predictable levels of sedation are achieved with infusions and recovery is rapid after discontinuation of the drug.^[54] Propofol, along with midazolam, has been recommended as an agent for shortterm (<24 hour) sedation in the ICU.[21] Boluses may not be tolerated as well as a maintenance infusion in some patients, especially the critically ill, since propofol may lead to hypotension and myocardial depression.

Because of the lipid formulation, fat overload must be carefully monitored in the critically ill patient.^[55] The administration of additional lipids with total parental nutrition should be adjusted for the fat content in the propofol infusion.^[56] Patients on long-term infusions should be followed for hypertrig-lyceridaemia and pancreatitis, which have been reported.^[57]

Propofol was modified to include the additive ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) to retard growth of microorganisms. A generic formulation has also become available, which contains a different preservative, sodium metabisulfite, and which has a lower pH. Although there are some subtle differences, the FDA basically considers the two formulations equivalent. Because of the concern for infections, propofol bottles and infusion tubing should be changed every 12 hours, and solutions drawn from the bottle should not be kept for more than 6 hours. Propofol may also cause pain upon injection, and it has been associated with metabolic acidosis, rhabdomyolysis and cardiovascular collapse in several patients. [58,59]

Propofol is metabolised in the liver but, because clearance exceeds hepatic blood flow, an extrahepatic mechanism has been demonstrated as well. [60] Because of the extrahepatic metabolism, propofol is still relatively short acting in patients with liver failure. Renal disease does not appear to alter the kinetics of propofol. [61]

4.5 Haloperidol

Haloperidol, a butyrophenone antipsychotic drug, has been used in the treatment of delirium in the critically ill.^[62] The intravenous route is preferred in the ICU patient because of better bioavailability and predictability, but it has not been approved by the US FDA for parenteral use. The dose required to control delirium varies widely between patients. A loading regimen starting with a 2mg dose, followed by repeated doses doubling the previous dose every 15–20 minutes has been described for the acutely agitated patient.^[63]

Haloperidol has some significant adverse effects. It reduces the seizure threshold, it may precipitate extrapyramidal reactions, and it may prolong the QT interval leading to torsades de pointes.^[64] Haloperidol should be used with caution in patients at risk for arrhythmias (history of cardiomyopathy or heavy alcohol use) and in patients taking other drugs that may prolong the QT interval such as amiodarone or procainamide. Patients receiving haloperidol should be in a monitored setting and daily electrocardiograms should be obtained to follow changes in the QT interval. Significant QT interval changes have been reported with doses as low as 35mg and as rapidly as within minutes of a 20mg intravenous dose.^[64]

4.6 Dexmedetomidine

Dexmedetomidine, an α₂-agonist, is a new class of sedative drug that is being introduced for use in the ICU. It binds α₂-receptors 8-fold more avidly than clonidine and is shorter acting.^[65] Beneficial properties include marked sedation with only mild reductions in minute ventilation, [66] reduced haemodynamic response to intubation and extubation, attenuated stress response to surgery and potentiation of analgesics.^[67] A prospective, randomised study reported that patients in the ICU who received dexmedetomidine required significantly less additional sedative or analgesic medication than did the control patients.^[68] In 1999, dexmedetomidine was approved by the US FDA for short-term (<24 hour) infusion as a sedative agent in critically ill patients. It has not been approved for use in Europe. [69] Patients sedated with dexmedetomidine appear tranquil while being readily arousable and interactive when stimulated.[65]

The adverse effects include hypertension, followed by hypotension and bradycardia from inhibition of sympathetic activity in the central nervous system. [69] Because of this, boluses may not be tolerated as well as maintenance infusions in critically ill patients. Elimination may be prolonged in the presence of hepatic dysfunction, but additional data will be necessary to determine whether this drug can be used in patients with renal or hepatic failure. [69]

Dexmedetomidine needs further studying. For instance, not much information exists in terms of its

amnestic qualities or in terms of infusions lasting longer than 24 hours. A small number of patients in the British study reported being excessively aware of the ICU environment despite what was perceived as adequate sedation by the staff. Patients with hypovolaemia, bradycardia or low cardiac output may experience a greater likelihood of adverse effects, so proper patient selection is very important.

5. Global Practices

As shown in sections 3 and 4, a wide variety of pharmacological agents can be used for the treatment of pain and anxiety. Although recommendations have been made for sedation and analgesic regimens in the ICU, practice continues to vary widely between different ICUs. Several studies have attempted to characterise international practices by sending out surveys and questionnaires. In Europe, 63% of participants used midazolam often or always for patients requiring sedation, followed by 35% who used propofol and 9% who used haloperidol often or always for ICU patients.^[70] The narcotics were more evenly divided, with one-third using morphine often or always, one-third using fentanyl, and one-quarter using sufentanil. Only 43% of the European ICUs used a sedation scale. When a scale was used, the Ramsay scale was used most frequently at 74% of the time.^[70]

In Denmark, midazolam and propofol were used more than diazepam (100, 92 and 24%, respectively).^[71] For analgesia, the preferred drugs were morphine (94%), fentanyl (76%) and sufentanil (43%). Only 16% of the ICUs used a sedation scale, but they all used the Ramsay scale if a sedation scale was used.^[71]

In England, propofol was slightly more popular than midazolam, while almost no ICUs used loraze-pam.^[72] After 72 hours of sedation, midazolam infusions became more popular. Analgesic usage included morphine, alfentanil and fentanyl, in that order. A sedation scale was used in 67% of ICUs, but while the Ramsay scale was still the most popular, almost a third of the ICUs used another scoring system.^[72]

Overall, although differences do exist between countries, most ICUs around the world are using

Table IV. Clinical practice guidelines for sedation and analgesia from the Society of Critical Care Medicine and American College of Critical Care Medicine [21]

Pain

- 1. An assessment of pain and the response to therapy should be regularly assessed using an appropriate pain scale
- 2. Therapeutic plans and goals should be developed for all patients
- 3. Recommended intravenous opioids are: fentanyl for acute distress, fentanyl or hydromorphone for patients with haemodynamic instability or renal insufficiency, and morphine and hydromorphone for longer term therapy
- 4. Scheduled doses or continuous infusions are preferred over intermittent boluses
- 5. NSAIDs and acetaminophen can be useful adjuncts, but beware of renal insufficiency or gastrointestinal bleeding

Sedation

- 1. Treatment of pain and other reversible causes should be conducted before sedating an agitated patient
- 2. Like pain control, a treatment plan or goal should be established for each patient, and therapy should be assessed with a validated sedation scale
- 3. Midazolam or diazepam is useful for the acutely agitated patient
- 4. Propofol is preferred when rapid awakening is crucial, and triglyceride levels should be monitored after 2 days of continuous infusions
- 5. Lorazepam is recommended for longer infusions
- 6. Doses should be tapered daily to assess underlying mental status and sedation protocols can be helpful and beneficial
- 7. Haloperidol is the preferred agent for the treatment of delirium

similar drugs for pain and sedation. Almost all recognised the importance of adequate analgesia and anxiolysis, and very few used neuromuscular blocking agents unless for specific indications. The use of a sedation score seems to be gaining in popularity but a consensus opinion as to what level of sedation will be the optimal goal is lacking. Further work will be needed to see if the use of these scores can improve ICU morbidity and mortality.

6. Practice Guidelines

The Society of Critical Care Medicine (SCCM) and the American College of Critical Care Medicine (ACCM) conducted a review of the literature and in 1995 published clinical practice guideline for sedation and analgesia for the critically ill patient. [73] These two societies have joined with the American Society of Health-System Pharmacists (ASHP) and they have recently published revised clinical practice guidelines. [21] Table IV is a summary of their recommendations.

7. Sedation Protocols

The challenge for critical care physicians using analgesics and sedatives is to provide patient comfort and safety without increasing morbidity and mortality. Because of the variety in practice styles, pathways to standardise patient care have attracted a lot of attention. From a mechanical ventilation standpoint, weaning protocols have been shown to improve efficiency, reduce resource utilisation, improve patient outcomes, reduce overall ICU expenditures and decrease the frequency of tracheostomies.^[74]

For sedation there have been two prospective, randomised, controlled trials examining the effects of sedation protocols in the intubated patient. Brook et. al. randomised 321 medical ICU patients to a nurse-implemented sedation protocol or to standard care.[75] They showed that the protocol group had shorter mechanical ventilation times, length of stay and tracheostomy rates. Kress et. al., also studied medical ICU patients, but their protocol group had their sedation infusions interrupted daily for a 'wake-up test' and the sedation was restarted at half the previous dose.^[76] The control group did not have scheduled daily decreases in the infusion rate and care was left to the discretion of the ICU team. They found a statistically significant shorter duration of mechanical ventilation and length of ICU stay in the intervention group.

On the basis, in part, of the above data, recent clinical guidelines recommend that sedation protocols should be instituted and that they include daily cessation and patient-specific targeted goals of sedation and analgesia administration.^[21]

8. Conclusion

There has been increased recognition of the importance of adequate analgesia and anxiolysis for patients in the ICU. Although there are practice differences that still exist, we have made large strides in this area of critical care. Many ICUs are moving toward sedation scales that will help standardise our goals for sedation and many intensivists are now calling for sedation protocols that will help standardise the drugs and dosages that are used. Much is still unknown about the effects of these drugs on the mind after infusions that may last from days to weeks to months. Hopefully, as more studies are performed, we will have more defined clinical end-points, newer drugs with rapid onset and offset and no active metabolites, and improved morbidity and mortality for our patients.

Acknowledgements

No sources of funding were used to assist in the preparation of this manuscript. The authors have no conflicts of interest that are directly relevant to the content of this manuscript.

References

- Lewis KS, Whipple JK, Michael KA, et al. Effect of analgesic treatment on the physiological consequences of acute pain. Am J Hosp Pharm 1994; 51 (12): 1539-54
- Mangano DT, Siliciano D, Hollenberg M, et al. Postoperative myocardial ischemia: therapeutic trials using intensive analgesia following surgery. Anesthesiology 1992; 76 (3): 342-53
- Britton BJ, Hawkey C, Wood WG, et al. Stress: a significant factor in venous thrombosis? Br J Surg 1974; 61 (10): 814-20
- Slade MS, Greenberg LJ, Yunis EJ, et al. Integrated immune response to standard major surgical trauma in normal patients. Surg Forum 1974; 25: 425-7
- Swinamer DL, Phang PT, Jones RL, et al. Effect of routine administration of analgesia on energy expenditure in critically ill patients. Chest 1988; 93 (1): 4-10
- Moller IW, Dinesen K, Sondergard S, et al. Effect of patientcontrolled analgesia on plasma catecholamine, cortisol and glucose concentrations after cholecystectomy. Br J Anaesth 1988; 61 (2): 160-4
- Modig J, Borg T, Bagge L, et al. Role of extradural and of general anesthesia in fibrinolysis and coagulation after total hip replacement. Br J Anaesth 1983; 55: 625-9
- 8. Salomaki TE, Leppaluoto J, Laitinen JO, et al. Epidural versus intravenous fentanyl for reducing hormonal, metabolic and

- physiologic responses after thoracotomy. Anesthesiology 1993; 79 (4): 672-9
- Jones C, Griffiths RD, Macmillan RR, et al. Psychological problems occurring after intensive care. Br J Int Care 1994; 2: 46-53
- Parker M, Schubert W, Shelhamer J, et al. Perceptions of a critically ill patient experiencing therapeutic paralysis in an ICU. Crit Care Med 1984; 12: 69-71
- Stoll C, Haller M, Briegel J, et al. Health-related quality of life in long-term survivors after treatment with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) for the acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). Anaesthesist 1998; 47 (1): 24-9
- Bond M. Psychological and psychiatric aspects of pain. Anaesthesia 1978; 33: 355-61
- Chapman CR, Casey KL, Dubner R, et al. Pain measurement: an overview. Pain 1985; 22 (1): 1-31
- Ramsay MA, Savege TM, Simpson BR, et al. Controlled sedation with alphaxalone-alphadolone. BMJ 1974; 2 (920): 656-9
- Shapiro BA. Bispectral index: better information for sedation in the intensive care unit [editorial]? Crit Care Med 1999; 27 (8): 1663-4
- Glass PS, Bloom M, Kearse L, et al. Bispectral analysis measures sedation and memory effects of propofol, midazolam, isoflurane, and alfentanil in healthy volunteers. Anesthesiology 1997; 86 (4): 836-47
- Liu J, Singh H, White PF. Electroencephalographic bispectral index correlates with intraoperative recall and depth of propofol-induced sedation. Anesth Analg 1997; 84 (1): 185-9
- Shah N, Clack S, Chea F, et al. Does bispectral index of EEG correlate with Ramsay sedation score in ICU patients [abstract]? Anesthesiology 1996; 85: A469
- Frenzel D, Greim C, Sommer C, et al. Is the bispectral index appropriate for monitoring the sedation level of mechanically ventilated surgical ICU patients? Intensive Care Med 2002; 28: 178-83
- De Deyne C, Struys M, Decruyenaere J, et al. Use of continuous bispectral EEG monitoring to assess depth of sedation in ICU patients. Intensive Care Med 1998; 24 (12): 1294-8
- Jacobi J, Fraser G, Coursin D, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the sustained use of sedatives and analgesics in the critically ill adult. Crit Care Med 2002; 30 (1): 119-41
- Hsu HO, Hickey RF, Forbes AR. Morphine decreases peripheral vascular resistance and increases capacitance in man. Anesthesiology 1979; 50 (2): 98-102
- Osborne R, Joel S, Slevin M. Morphine intoxication in renal failure: the role of morphine-6-glucuronide [letter]. BMJ (Clin Res Ed) 1986; 293 (6554): 1101
- Stanley T, Webster L. Anesthetic requirements and cardiovascular effects of fentanyl-oxygen and fentanyl-diazepam-oxygen anesthesia in man. Anesth Analg 1978; 57: 411-6
- Bodenham A, Shelly MP, Park GR. The altered pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of drugs commonly used in critically ill patients. Clin Pharmacokinet 1988; 14 (6): 347-73
- Haberer J, Schoeffler P, Courderc E, et al. Fentanyl pharmacokinetics in anaesthetized patients with cirrhosis. Br J Anaesth 1982; 54: 1267-70
- Sarhill N, Walsh D, Nelson KA. Hydromorphone: pharmacology and clinical applications in cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 2001; 9 (2): 84-96
- Zheng M, McErlane KM, Ong MC. Hydromorphone metabolites: isolation and identification from pooled urine samples of a cancer patient. Xenobiotica 2002; 32 (5): 427-39

- Davis MP, Walsh D. Methadone for relief of cancer pain: a review of pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, drug interactions and protocols of administration. Support Care Cancer 2001; 9 (2): 73-83
- Felder C, Uehlinger C, Baumann P, et al. Oral and intravenous methadone use: some clinical and pharmacokinetic aspects. Drug Alcohol Depend 1999; 55 (1-2): 137-43
- Irifune M, Shimizu T, Nomoto M, et al. Ketamine-induced anesthesia involves the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-channel complex in mice. Brain Res 1992; 596 (1-2): 1-9
- Gooding J, Dimick A, Tavakoli M, et al. A physiologic analysis
 of cardiopulmonary responses to ketamine anesthesia in noncardiac patients. Anesth Analg 1977; 56: 813-6
- Waxman K, Shoemaker W, Lippmann M. Cardiovascular effects of anesthetic induction with ketamine. Anesth Analg 1980: 59: 355-8
- Joachimsson PO, Hedstrand U, Eklund A. Low-dose ketamine infusion for analgesia during postoperative ventilator treatment. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1986; 30 (8): 697-702
- Corssen G, Gutierrez J, Reves J, et al. Ketamine in the anesthetic management of asthmatic patients. Anesth Analg 1972; 51: 588-96
- Chang T, Glazko A. Biotransformation and disposition of ketamine. Int Anesthesiol Clin 1974; 12: 157-77
- Cohen IL. The management of the agitated ICU patient. Crit Care Med 2002; 30 Suppl. 1: S97-123
- Greenblatt DJ, Shader RI, Franke K, et al. Pharmacokinetics and bioavailability of intravenous, intramuscular, and oral lorazepam in humans. J Pharm Sci 1979; 68 (1): 57-63
- Pohlman AS, Simpson KP, Hall JB. Continuous intravenous infusions of lorazepam versus midazolam for sedation during mechanical ventilatory support: a prospective, randomized study. Crit Care Med 1994; 22 (8): 1241-7
- Laine GA, Hossain SMH, Solis RT, et al. Polyethylene glycol nephrotoxicity secondary to prolonged high-dose intravenous lorazepam. Ann Pharmacother 1995; 29 (11): 1110-4
- Cawley MJ. Short-term lorazepam infusion and concern for propylene glycol toxicity: case report and review. Pharmacotherapy 2001; 21 (9): 1140-4
- 42. Elliott H. Metabolism of lorazepam. Br J Anaesth 1976; 48: 1017-23
- Greenblatt D, Shader R, Harmatz J. Benzodiazepines: a summary of pharmacokinetic properties. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1981; 11: 11-6
- Adams P, Gelman S, Reves JG, et al. Midazolam pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics during acute hypovolemia. Anesthesiology 1985; 63 (2): 140-6
- Malacrida R, Fritz ME, Suter PM, et al. Pharmacokinetics of midazolam administered by continuous intravenous infusion to intensive care patients. Crit Care Med 1992; 20 (8): 1123-6
- Hall R, Zisook S. Paradoxical reactions to benzodiazepines. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1981; 11: 99S-104S
- Dirksen MS, Vree TB, Driessen JJ. Clinical pharmacokinetics of long-term infusion of midazolam in critically ill patients: preliminary results. Anaesth Intensive Care 1987; 15 (4): 440.4
- Reves JG, Fragen RJ, Vinik R, et al. Midazolam pharmacology and uses. Anesthesiology 1985; 62 (3): 310-24
- Mandema JW, Tuk B, Van Steveninck AL, et al. Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic modeling of the central nervous system effects of midazolam and its main metabolite alphahydroxymidazolam in healthy volunteers. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1992; 51 (6): 715-28

- Hamaoka N, Oda Y, Hase I, et al. Propofol decreases the clearance of midazolam by inhibiting CYP3A4: in vivo and in vitro study [abstract]. Anesthesiology 1999; 91 (3A): A451
- Ahonen J, Olkkola KT, Salmenpera M, et al. Effect of diltiazem on midazolam and alfentanil disposition in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. Anesthesiology 1996; 85 (6): 1246-52
- Ariano RE, Kassum DA, Aronson KJ. Comparison of sedative recovery time after midazolam versus diazepam administration. Crit Care Med 1994; 22 (9): 1492-6
- Klotz I, Avant G, Hoyumpa A, et al. The effects of age and liver disease on the disposition and elimination of diazepam in adult man [abstract]. J Clin Invest 1975; 55: 347
- Barr J, Egan TD, Sandoval NF, et al. Propofol dosing regimens for ICU sedation based upon an integrated pharmacokineticpharmacodynamic model. Anesthesiology 2001; 95 (2): 324-33
- Fulton B, Sorkin EM. Propofol: an overview of its pharmacology and a review of its clinical efficacy in intensive care sedation. Drugs 1995; 50 (4): 636-57
- McLeod G, Dick J, Wallis C, et al. Propofol 2 percent in critically ill patients: effect on lipids. Crit Care Med 1997; 25 (12): 1976-81
- Possidente C, Rogers F, Osler T, et al. Elevated pancreatic enzymes after extended propofol therapy. Pharmacotherapy 1998; 18: 653-5
- Badr AE, Mychaskiw II G, Eichhorn JH. Metabolic acidosis associated with a new formulation of propofol. Anesthesiology 2001; 94 (3): 536-8
- Cremer OL, Moons KG, Bouman EA, et al. Long-term propofol infusion and cardiac failure in adult head-injured patients. Lancet 2001; 357 (9250): 117-8
- Veroli P, O'Kelly B, Bertrand F, et al. Extrahepatic metabolism of propofol in man during the anhepatic phase of orthotopic liver transplantation. Br J Anaesth 1992; 68 (2): 183-6
- Morcos WE, Payne JP. The induction of anaesthesia with propofol ('Diprivan') compared in normal and renal failure patients. Postgrad Med J 1985; 61 Suppl. 3: 62-3
- Fish DN. Treatment of delirium in the critically ill patient. Clin Pharm 1991; 10 (6): 456-66
- Tesar G, Murray G, Cassem N, et al. Use of haloperidol for acute delirium in intensive care setting. J Clin Psychopharmacol 1985; 5: 344-7
- Sharma N, Rosman H, Padhi D, et al. Torsades de pointes associated with intravenous haloperidol in critically ill patients. Am J Cardiol 1998; 81: 238-40
- Coursin D, Coursin D, Maccioli G. Dexmedetomidine. Curr Opin Crit Care 2001; 7 (4): 221-6
- Belleville JP, Ward DS, Bloor BC, et al. Effects of intravenous dexmedetomidine in humans: I, sedation, ventilation, and metabolic rate. Anesthesiology 1992; 77 (6): 1125-33
- Scheinin B, Lindgren L, Randell T, et al. Dexmedetomidine attenuates sympathoadrenal responses to tracheal intubation and reduces the need for thiopentone and peroperative fentanyl. Br J Anaesth 1992; 68 (2): 126-31
- 68. Venn R, Bradshaw C, Spencer R, et al. Preliminary UK experience of dexmedetomidine, a bovel agent for postoeprative sedation in the intensive care unit. Anesthesia 1999; 54: 1136-42
- Bhana N, Goa KL, McClellan KJ. Dexmedetomidine. Drugs 2000; 59 (2): 263-8

- Soliman H, Melot C, Vincent J. Sedative and analgesic practice in the intensive care unit: the results of a European survey. Br J Anaesth 2001; 87 (2): 186-92
- Christensen BV, Thunedborg LP. Use of sedatives, analgesics and neuromuscular blocking agents in Danish ICUs 1996/97: a national survey. Intensive Care Med 1999; 25 (2): 186-91
- Murdoch S, Cohen A. Intensive care sedation: a review of current British practice. Intensive Care Med 2000; 26 (7): 922-8
- Shapiro BA, Warren J, Egol AB, et al. Practice parameters for intravenous analgesia and sedation for adult patients in the intensive care unit: an executive summary: Society of Critical Care Medicine. Critical Care Med 1995; 23 (9): 1596-600
- Ely EW, Baker AM, Dunagan DP, et al. Effect on the duration of mechanical ventilation of identifying patients capable of breathing spontaneously. N Engl J Med 1996; 335 (25): 1864-9

- Brook AD, Ahrens TS, Schaiff R, et al. Effect of a nursingimplemented sedation protocol on the duration of mechanical ventilation. Crit Care Med 1999; 27 (12): 2609-15
- Kress JP, Pohlman AS, O'Connor MF, et al. Daily interruption of sedative infusions in critically ill patients undergoing mechanical ventilation. N Engl J Med 2000; 342 (20): 1471-7

Correspondence and offprints: Assistant Clinical Professor *Linda L. Liu*, Department of Anesthesia, Rm M917, University of California, 505 Parnassus Ave, Box 0624, San Francisco, CA 94143, USA.

E-mail: liul@anesthesia.ucsf.edu